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CHAPTER 2—1928-1932
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1928 ELECTION—in retrospect, this election has become famous because it established FDR as a “political star”—at the Democratic convention FDR nominated Smith and Will Durant wrote that FDR was “beyond comparison, the finest man that has appeared in either convention . . . pale with years of struggle against paralysis . . . a man softened, and cleansed, and illuminated with pain.” (Alterman, p. 63)—the relationship between Al Smith and FDR was really complicated—in his bedroom in Hyde Park, FDR has a picture of him and Smith shaking hands but in 1932, Smith became a bitter political enemy and accused FDR of “throwing me out of a window”—for FDR, to become greater than a man like Smith, who prided himself on “the common touch” was politically important
       When Coolidge decided not to run for another term, many Republicans thought Herbert Hoover was “too progressive”—Smith was Catholic, opposed to prohibition so obviously anti-Irish and religious prejudice (“Rum and Romanism” as Dr. Samuel Burchard had called it in 1884, in attacking James G. Blaine) was important in the campaign, as it would be in 1960—on a letter sent home with students, the school board of Daytona Beach stated: “We must prevent the election of Alfred E. Smith to the Presidency. If he is elected President, you will not be allowed to have or read a Bible.”—Frances Perkins, who worked with Smith on protective legislation after the Triangle Fire, said that she encountered “some of the most terrible fantastic prejudices and dreadful yarns I ever heard” during the campaign--Smith's Catholicism and perceived anti-Prohibitionism as well as association with Tammany Hall hurt him in the South, where several states were won by the Republicans for the first time since Reconstruction--the election was so raw that Smith even lost New York state, even though he had been elected governor for four non-consecutive terms—

In southern states with sizable African American populations (and where the vast majority of African Americans could not vote at the time), perception took hold of Hoover as being for integration or at least not committed to maintaining segregation, which in turn overcame all of these things. During the race, Mississippi Governor Theodore Bilbo claimed that Hoover had met with a black member of the Republican National Committee and danced with her.

Herbert Hoover (Republican) 58.2 %
Al Smith (Democrat)  40.8 %
Norman Thomas (Socialist) .07 %
William Z. Forster (Communist) .01 %
The Electoral College margin was astounding—444 to 67, with Hoover’s winning 40 out of 48 states

Great article “When A Catholic Terrified the Heartland,” comparing the Smith campaign to Mitt Romney by Robert A. Slayton (December, 2011)
http://campaignstops.blogs.nytimes.com/2011/12/10/when-a-catholic-terrified-the-heartland/?scp=1&sq=robert%20slayton&st=cse
As part of Smith’s campaign, he persuaded FDR to run for governor of New York, even though FDR thought about retiring to his home at Hyde Park to continue his polio treatments--reportedly Smith originally wanted Herbert Lehman to run for governor of New York but James Farley, the party leader in Rockland County and later the national Democratic chairman and Postmaster-General (1932-1940) convinced Smith that FDR was a stronger candidate and would help Smith with the Protestants in New York--
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FDR also thought that, with the advice of Louis Howe, that 1928 would be “a Republican year”—once again, Eleanor was a major force, even though she was ambivalent about taking on more public life and supporting the Democratic party—in 1932, ER responded to a friend who confessed to voting for Norman Thomas, that "if I had not been married to Franklin," she too would have voted for the Socialist candidate—FDR carried the state of New York by 25,000 votes while Smith lost it by 100,000, although FDR went to bed ion election night believing that he had lost--FDR became immediately the favorite for 1932, uniting the northern Democratic groups with the south, who considered him almost an adoptee because of the time he spent in Warm Springs, GA, and by the farmers since he was (sort of) a farmer—
After the election, a bitter quarrel grew between FDR and Smith, who felt that he should retain the practical power, if not the position, of governor of new York—Smith kept clothes in the governor’s mansion and suggested that FDR spend the winter months in Warm Springs while Smith would administer state business—the breaking point was FDR’s discharge of Smith’s secretary, Belle Moskowitz and Smith sent Frances Perkins to find out why FDR would not retain Moskowitz and FDR told Perkins that he would be making decisions and Perkins felt that FDR was “a younger sibling coming out from the shadow of an older brother.”

As governor, FDR pushed hydroelectric power and in 1931, sent his industrial commissioner, Frances Perkins, to England to study that country’s unemployment system—he established a temporary emergency relief program and because his farm in ?warm spings lost money, he looked at farm relief

The Loray Strike—Gastonia, NC (April, 1929) --Located in the south-western piedmont of North Carolina, Gaston County had the ideal resources for manufacturing. Because of the large potential workforce of former sharecroppers and failed farmers, many northern industrialists moved south in search of a reduced cost of labor. World War I brought great prosperity to the southern cotton mills, "fueled largely by government defense orders for uniforms, tents, and war material. Thousands of new jobs opened in the mills, and wages soared to all time highs." This boom was to be short-lived, however, and the prosperity that the workers enjoyed soon disappeared. The luxury items they had purchased on credit were now stretching their budgets so much that they could hardly afford to put food on the table.
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Managers introduced the "stretch-out" system in which spinners and weavers not only doubled their work, but also reduced their wages. “I used to tend forty-eight looms,” complained a South Carolina weaver in 1929, “while under the stretch-out I have to tend ninety looms and I couldn’t do it. Three years ago I was makin’ over $19 a week. Now I make $17.70.” “By the late 1920’s some mill workers’ wages sank as low as $5 a week.” The owners of the mills insisted on keeping prices down, which caused mill work to become extremely dangerous and dirty. Often the workdays were so long that the women, who made up a considerable percentage of the workers, were rarely home to raise their children. Upon hearing about the conditions in the Loray Mill, Fred Beal of the National Textile Workers Union (NTWU), a communist labor union, as well as a member of the Trade Union Unity League, began focusing his attention on the small town of Gastonia
On April 1, 1929 1,800 mill workers walked off their jobs to protest intolerable working conditions. The strikers demanded a forty-hour work week, a minimum $20 weekly wage, union recognition, and the abolition of the stretch-out system.
In response, management evicted families from mill-owned homes. In an effort to retain order, Mayor Rankin asked Governor O. Max Gardner for assistance. He immediately sent 250 National Guard troops who arrived on April 3. The strike escalated throughout the month. Nearly 100 masked men destroyed the NTWU's headquarters on April 18, As a result, the NTWU started a tent city on the outskirts of town that was protected by armed strikers at all times.

On June 7, 150 workers marched to the mill to call out the night shift. They were attacked and dispersed by sheriff's deputies. Later that night, four officers including Police Chief Aderholt arrived at the tent city and demanded that the guards hand over their weapons. An altercation ensued and Chief Aderholt was killed. Two of his officers and several strikers were wounded. In the aftermath, 71 strikers were arrested. Eight strikers and another eight members of the NTWU, including Beal, were indicted for murder. During the trial, a juror went insane after seeing some disturbing evidence. As a result, the judge was forced to declare a mistrial. When news of the mistrial was released, a general wave of terror ran through the countryside. During the early part of September, mobs of men gathered up strikers and ran them out of the county. These actions came to a head when, on September 14, a truck containing 22 strikers was chased down and fired upon. 
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One female striker, Ella Mae Wiggins, was killed. Wiggins (also known as Ella May Wiggins) was a single mother of nine, four of whom died of whooping cough due to inadequate medical care. Rather than renting a mill-owned house in the mill town, she chose to live in a wooden shack in an African American hamlet where her children were cared for by a local woman. Seeing the union as the best hope for her children, Wiggins became a key leader of the strike, and was very successful in rallying the workers through her songs. Some of her better known works are “A Mill Mother’s Song,” “Chief Aderholt,” and “The Big Fat Boss and the Workers.” On September 14, 1929, a pregnant Wiggins was shot in the chest when a truckload of unarmed Bessemer City strikers was ambushed en route to a union rally. Seven men were charged with her murder, six of whom were Loray Mill employees. All were found not guilty. Beal was released on bail, but fled to the Soviet Union. Disillusioned, he subsequently returned to the United States and surrendered to the authorities in North Carolina. He was later pardoned
Great history of the strike from Southern Exposure (1974) http://www.weisbord.org/Gastonia.htm 
Lecture series: Blood on the Cloth  http://www.nchumanities.org/programs/road-scholars/blood-cloth-ella-may-wiggins-and-1929-gastonia-strike 

Historiography --Gastonia gets historical marker in 2007

http://www.democraticunderground.com/discuss/duboard.php?az=view_all&address=170x9347 
In an article, Ian Reifowitz, the author of Obama’s America: A Transformative Vision of Our National Identity, responds to Amity Shlaes’ “review” of the new movie version of The Great Gatsby, in an article entitled “The Twenties Didn’t Roar for Everyone.” 
“Shlaes, after the first bit about Gatsby, then cites a litany of statistics about how middle-class and working-class life improved during the 1920s. By this point, after hoodwinking readers about Gatsby and the stock market, and bolstering her credibility as someone concerned about those in the middle -- and, by highlighting the decline in lynchings and in Klan activity as prosperity continued into the late twenties, maybe even her credibility among the Americans of color that conservatives are desperate to reach -- she delivers the point she's been priming her readers to accept, lock, stock, and barrel.

“The larger argument is about conservative economic policy. Shlaes approvingly cites the idea that "if the rich prospered, the rest might do better than before." Classic trickle-down economics. The thing is, it's bunk. Economic inequality isn't a problem just because of the growing gap between the rich and the rest by itself, but because massive inequality is the sign of an unhealthy economy, one on the brink of collapse.

“Inequality reached a new high on the eve of the Great Depression before falling and remaining relatively constant until the early 1980s, when Ronald Reagan moved our economic policies hard to the right. Inequality then grew again, rapidly, peaking just before the most recent crash, the Great Recession of 2008, one that, like the Great Depression, followed a sustained period of Republican control of the White House and both houses of Congress. Do we learn nothing from history? Apparently, that's what Amity Shlaes thinks.”
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But back to the 1920s. Shlaes asserted that all the wonderful improvements in middle-class life she cited in her article happened because of tax cuts and other policies that allowed the rich to get richer, because of which "good ideas found the capital needed to finance them." In conclusion, Shlaes modestly suggested "it might be useful to take some of the policies of the 1920s as models for today."

Yeah, maybe we should. Conservative, laissez-faire, "pro-business" Republicans held the White House from 1921 to 1933 (and held both houses of Congress from 1921 to 1931). Having ten years to fully implement their vision, these Republicans did great for middle-class Americans, right? Again, only if we pretend that history ended in October 1929.

The above graph of Gross Domestic Product in the U.S. shows that by the time the Republican reign was finally over in 1933, and FDR began ushering in the New Deal, all of the gains brought about by -- in Shlaes' words -- "the policies of the 1920s" were gone, drowned like the Great Gatsby in the pool of the Great Depression (sorry, couldn't resist). In fact, our GDP by the time FDR took office was, wait for it, just about right back down to where it was in the summer of 1922, the summer when Daisy visited Gatsby over in West Egg.

What was that, Ms. Shlaes, about economic myths and the 1920s?
http://hnn.us/articles/how-roaring-were-1920s 
THE CRASH

Al Jolson. Brother Can You Spare A Dime

 http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4F4yT0KAMyo&feature=related (3:18)

Corporate profits shot up by 65 percent between 1926-29, and the government let the wealthy keep more of those profits. The Revenue Act of 1926 cut the taxes of those making $1 million or more by more than two-thirds. As a result of these trends, in 1929 the top 0.1 percent of American families had a total income equal to that of the bottom 42 percent.
Alter maintains that “the most direct cause of the problem—the disease that threw millions out of work and paralyzed the country on the eve of FDR’s inaugural in 1932—was the culture of American banking. The simple, critical fact was that the United States in the early 20th century had far too many mom-and-pop banks; an astonishing 10,000 banks failed, almost all of the capitalized at well under $100,000.” (p.77)
October 24, 1929—Black Thursday as the stock market began to crash—On October 29, in the worst day of the panic, stocks lost $10 billion to $15 billion in value. By mid-November almost all of the gains of the previous two years had been wiped out, with losses estimated at $30 billion. only 2% of Americans owned stock so they majority was not directly affected but soon there were plant closings and job losses—in 1930, 1,300 banks failed—US Steel cut wages 10%


From this point on, all issues dramatically changed as the country was clearly in a crisis—Hoover took the position that it was not the responsibility of the government to intervene and that eventually the economy would rebound—the Democrats, with more support among working-class voters, turned to a whole new approach of government responsibility—
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By 1931, the Depression in the US had spread to Europe and East Asia and provided the most severe social conflict since the Civil War—pushed to political extremes: socialism and communism v fascism and militarism and ethnocentric nationalism—the economic collapse had repercussions in so many areas that eventually led to military fighting—


Still secretary of the treasury, Mellon became unpopular with the onset of the Great Depression. He advised Herbert Hoover to "Let the slump liquidate itself. Liquidate labor, liquidate stocks, liquidate farmers, liquidate real estate… it will purge the rottenness out of the system. High costs of living and high living will come down. People will work harder, live a more moral life. Values will be adjusted, and enterprising people will pick up from less competent people” (WBA, p. 368)—“The final solution of unemployment is work.” Calvin Coolidge. 

Hoover predicted that the worst effects would be over in 60 days but began to move when he realized that the crash was deeper and longer than expected—while he is usually trashed as ineffective in this crisis, Nash insists that Hoover “acted aggressively to stem the economic collapse . . . and did not sit idly by and watch the country drift toward disorder” (p.587) but basically called conferences and tried to find ways to create voluntary programs to deal with unemployment---over the three years, however, many Americans began to blame Hoover and he became bitter and isolated—

Documentary on the Crash http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Fp1CttLLR0k (45:04)

History Channel The Great Depression: The Road to Rock Bottom http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aXXsTB4vBEg (59:51)

PBS videos on the crash

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ccNilnpvbJg&feature=related (9:37)
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=E6qnlFavdF8&feature=related (9:27)
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3ti_wXD5ei0&feature=related (9:40)


1930—Hoover established the President’s Emergency Committee for Employment (PECE)—claimed “no one is actually starving”--

Trickle-down economics—“The way to a nation’s greatness is through self-reliance”—
When Hoover called for individuals to set up soup kitchens, one famous figure did:  at the outset of the Depression,  Al Capone established the first soup kitchen to clean up his shady image. Capone's kitchen served three meals a day to ensure that everyone who had lost a job could get a meal-- when soup kitchens first appeared, they were run by churches or private charities. The Capuchin Services Center in southeast Detroit, for example, served 1,500 to 3,000 people a day. That center opened on November 2, 1929. Volunteers of America also was important in setting up soup kitchens all over America
Here is a lesson plan from the state of Alabama with three good original sources:

http://www.archives.state.al.us/teacher/dep/dep1/dep.html 


1931—economy took another plunge and by the spring of 1933, 15 million people were out of work—construction dropped 78%, manufacturing 54% and the steel industry was operating at 12% of capacity—really the whole international monetary system collapsed—the other European countries had not really recovered from the devastation of war so their economies were in worse shape—in no year since the Civil War had so few miles of railroad track been laid

SMOOT-HAWLEY--the US passed tariffs like Smoot-Hawley Tariff in 1930 which raised import fees to the highest levels ever in an attempt to protect manufacturing but set off instead a trade war with increasing tariffs from all countries—European countries then raised tariffs as well, blocking US exports--Germany was unable to continue reparations to France and Britain, who then stopped paying loans to the US so the Depression worsened in 1930-31—in 1931, the largest bank in Austria collapsed and Germany suffered from hyperinflation-- The Smoot-Hawley Tariff, and the response from European countries, was especially tough on farmers who depended on exporting produce


Unemployment was worst in single-industry towns, like Detroit and Pittsburgh, even though some major corporations, like GE and Westinghouse (which had learned in the 1920 the importance of stability) tried to retain their most skilled and experienced workers—10% of ACWA members were working—unemployment rate of 40% in Detroit--


Nash claims “there was never any real danger of revolution” and that people were more despairing than angry—sporadic protests, especially among farmers—for unemployed blacks and tenant farmers, they barely noticed since they were already living in depressed conditions—98% of Americans did not own stock so they did not suffer directly—


New feature movies Dracula and Frankenstein (1931)--


Documentary The National Archives Southeast Region about the Depression—interviews with survivors with photos 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TpfY8kh5lUw&feature=related (27:47)
Comment posted of this video exemplifies the controversies:

F.D.R. was part of the fraud that has taken place in America. He and the world bankers have turned us all into "Debtor Slaves" but the good American people seem not to be able to be awakened to this truth.﻿ When ever I try to share this info with my fellow Americans they seem to be blinded by pride and willing to wear the cloak of ignorance as a badge of honor . Wanting to rely on the politico and the talking heads that continue to lead them further into fascism and away from freedom. Peace.
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For black sharecroppers, the situation was much worse—Clarence Lee wrote “An African-American Looks for Work and Finds Discrimination,” and claims that “Sharecropping was selling yourself to the devil. A Negro sharecropper had no farm equipment or farm animals. A white sharecropper often had both so that a farmer only received one-third of a crop. . . .One man sold you and another man bought you like a slave. . . You were degraded from people down to merchandise.” –the rides the rails for 18 months looking for work—fear and despair (Haugen, pp. 196-98)

Huge transient population, riding the rails—250,000 youth under the age of 21 had left home in search of work—the southern Pacific claimed to have thrown almost 7000,000 riders off the trains in one year--Nash describes the movie Wild Boys of the Road (1933) in which a young man first rides the rails for fun and then, after his father goes bankrupt, does it for real—later became one of the 3 million youths who worked in the CCC, earning $ 30/month ($25 sent home, $ 5 kept for spending)—
Hoovervilles—shanty towns created by homeless populations—hobos not avoiding work but looking desperately for it-- Democrats coined other terms, such as "Hoover blanket" (old newspaper used as blanketing) and "Hoover flag" (an empty pocket turned inside out). "Hoover leather" was cardboard used to line a shoe with the sole worn through--a "Hoover wagon" was an automobile with horses tied to it because the owner could not afford fuel—in 1941, Sullivan’s Travels showed a man who accidently becomes a Hooverville resident—

Pressure to fire married women so that men could keep working—racial and ethnic discrimination and hostilities—anti-Asian riots in California where Chinese dominated the small hand laundry business and were facing competition from large mechanized steam laundries—Senator Theodore G. Bilbo of MS suggested that the unemployment problem could be solved by shipping 12 million blacks back to Africa—the United Spanish War Veterans urged the deportation of 10 million foreign-born workers (about 6 million more than were actually in the US)
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In rural areas, the economic collapse was intensified by the Dust Bowl drought between 1934-1941, when normal rainfall returned—severe wind erosion between 1935-38—one storm in March, 1935 carried off more dirt than had been dug during the construction of the Panama Canal—occasionally children caught outside during a dust storm died of suffocation—partly the result of new farming practices, after farmers plowed up the grassy plains to plant wheat and the wheat crop did not hold the soil in place—“ecological disaster”—drove 16,000  Okies off the land—


Huge human cost in the Depression—many “middle-class” workers internalized the collapse of the system as a personal failure—“It’s my own fault. I wasn’t smart enough.”


Edward R. Ellis. “What the Depression Did to People.” 1970. “The Depression smashed into the nation with such fury that men groped for superlatives to express its impact and meaning.”—like “the explosion of a bomb dropped in the middle of society”--


Even Charles Schwab expressed fear—really brought into question the actions and morality of the rich class—Henry Ford remarked that the Depression was “a wholesome thing in general”—business lost its prestige and a concern for “human values” grew as the culture of the country changed--


The response of the Hoover administration was paralysis: both ideologically and practically— there were no expectations for the federal government to provide direct relief—the government had about 750,000 workers, and “only the Post Office touched the lives of most Americans” (WBA, p. 380)—no draft, no system of federal aid to states or cities or farmers or unemployed--basically the federal government had lost its strength--no federal aid, no unemployment and Hoover, a “self-made” millionaire believed that the primary role of the federal government in the crisis was to coordinate state and local aid and charity—insisted that relief was a local responsibility and that any federal aid would strike at “the roots of self-government”—endorsed a $45 million appropriation to feed livestock of Arkansas farmers but vetoed a grant of $ 25 million to feed the farmers’ families--needed to restore “business confidence”—passage of Agricultural Marketing Act of 1929 to provide $500 million in loans to marketing co-operatives but all based on voluntarism--tried to encourage voluntary efforts among businessmen and local governments but only 8 states had any kind of unemployment insurance--set up the Reconstruction Finance Corporation to develop loans failing businesses and banks—European countries had national programs for health insurance and pensions—in Detroit, Gov. Frank Murphy, elected in 1930, set up municipal feeding stations that served 14,000 people daily and opened emergency shelters in empty factories—
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SELF-HELP—while Hoover advocated “self-help” and mutual aid, he did so to avoid any direct government intervention--workers and farmers looked to networks of support and charity—sharecroppers and workers thought credit would be extended to them by local merchants—in industrial areas, workers shared work-sharing schedules—churches, ethnic societies and local savings and loans also stepped up—eventually, in Chicago, for example, 80% of all neighborhood banks failed—


Co-ops started in cities like Seattle, where the Unemployed Citizens League, a “republic of the penniless” made idle fishing boats available and convinced farmers to let unemployed workers dig potatoes and pick apples, and traded work and skills: bartered haircuts, shoe and furniture repair—eventually about 300,000 people were involved in 37 states in this informal “exchange economy” (WBA, p. 387)
“In the spring of 1932, in Compton, California, an unemployed World War I veteran walked out to the farms that still ringed Los Angeles. He offered his labor in return for a sack of vegetables, and that evening he returned with more than his family needed. The next day a neighbor went out with him to the fields. Within two months 500 families were members of the Unemployed Cooperative Relief Organization (UCRO).

“That group became one of 45 units in an organization that served the needs of some 150,000 people.

“It operated a large warehouse, a distribution center, a gas and service station, a refrigeration facility, a sewing shop, a shoe shop, even medical services, all on cooperative principles. Members were expected to work two days a week, and benefits were allocated according to need. A member with a wife and two kids got four times as much food as someone living alone. The organization was run democratically, and social support was as important as material support. Members helped one another resist evictions; sometimes they moved a family back in after a landlord had put them out. Unemployed utility workers turned on gas and electricity for families that had been cut off.

“The UCRO was just one organization in one city. Groups like it ultimately involved more than 1.3 million people, in more than 30 states. It happened spontaneously, without experts or blueprints. Most of the participants were blue collar workers whose formal schooling had stopped at high school. Some groups evolved a kind of money to create more flexibility in exchange. An example was the Unemployed Exchange Association, or UXA, based in Oakland, California. UXA began in a Hooverville (an encampment of the poor during the Depression, so-called after the president) called “Pipe City,” near the East Bay waterfront. Hundreds of homeless people were living there in sections of large sewer pipe that were never laid because the city ran out of money. Among them was Carl Rhodehamel, a musician and engineer.

“Rhodehamel and others started going door to door in Oakland, offering to do home repairs in exchange for unwanted items. They repaired these and circulated them among themselves. Soon they established a commissary and sent scouts around the city and into the surrounding farms to see what they could scavenge or exchange labor for. Within six months they had 1,500 members, and a thriving sub-economy that included a foundry and machine shop, woodshop, garage, soap factory, print shop, wood lot, ranches, and lumber mills. They rebuilt 18 trucks from scrap. At UXA’s peak it distributed 40 tons of food a week.

“It all worked on a time-credit system. Each hour worked earned a hundred points; there was no hierarchy of skills, and all work paid the same. Members could use credits to buy food and other items at the commissary, medical and dental services, haircuts, and more. A council of some 45 coordinators met regularly to solve problems and discuss opportunities.

“One coordinator might report that a saw needed a new motor. Another knew of a motor but the owner wanted a piano in return. A third member knew of a piano that was available. And on and on. It was an amalgam of enterprise and cooperation—the flexibility and hustle of the market, but without the encoded greed of the corporation or the stifling bureaucracy of the state. The economics texts don’t really have a name for it. The members called it a “reciprocal economy.”

Jonathan Rowe. “Co-Operative Economy in the Great Depression.” http://jonathanrowe.org/money-cooperative-economy-in-the-great-depression 

“I have always had to work, whether anyone hired me or not. For the first forty years of my life, I was an employee. When not employed by others, I employed myself. I do not believe in routine charity. I think it a shameful thing that any man should have to stoop to take it, or give it. I do not include human helpfulness under the name of charity. My quarrel with charity is that it is neither helpful nor human. The charity of our cities is the most barbarous thing in our system, with the possible exception of our prisons.”

Henry Ford. “Advice to the Unemployed in the Great Depression” (June, 1932)
http://www.answers.com/topic/a-pub-caret1-dvice-to-the-unemployed-in-the-great-depression-11-june-1932-by-henry-ford 


Jon Curl. Co-Ops, Progressives and the New Deal. 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IaloCif3JXg (6:45)
BLAME & SCAPEGOATS
Mexican Repatriation refers to a forced migration that took place between 1929 and 1939, when as many as one million people of Mexican descent were forced or pressured to leave the US. (The term "Repatriation," though commonly used, is inaccurate, since approximately 60% of those driven out were U.S. citizens) and took place without due process. The Immigration and Naturalization Service targeted Mexicans because of "the proximity of the Mexican border, the physical distinctiveness of mestizos, and easily identifiable barrios." The Repatriation is not widely discussed in American history textbooks; in a 2006 survey of the nine most commonly used American history textbooks in the United States, four did not mention the Repatriation, and only one devoted more than half a page to the topic. In total, they devoted four pages to the Repatriation, compared with eighteen pages for the Japanese American internment. 

These actions were authorized by President Herbert Hoover and targeted areas with large Hispanic populations, mostly in California, Texas, Colorado, Illinois and Michigan
The rewards of the "Coolidge Prosperity" of the 1920's were not shared evenly among all Americans--In 1929, the top 0.1 percentage of Americans had a combined income equal to the bottom 42%. That same top 0.1 percentage of Americans in 1929 controlled 34% of all savings, while 80% of Americans had no savings at all. Wages increased at a rate one fourth as fast as productivity increased, throwing off any balance between supply and demand

OTHER EVENTS

THE NATION OF ISLAM (July, 1930)—founded in Detroit by Wallace D. Fard (Muhammad), who claimed to be both the Messiah of Christianity and the Mahdi (the prophesied redeemer who will come back to earth) of Islam—W.F. Muhammad set out with the goal of resurrecting the spiritual, mental, social, and economic condition of the African American men and women of America—involves strict family structures, no eating pork-the N.O.I. also promotes the belief that God will bring about a universal government of peace—divided the population into three district groups:

1. The deaf, dumb and blind masses, “ representing 85% of the population who are easily led in the wrong direction and hard to lead in the right direction”
2. The slave-makers, consisting of 10% of the population, who manipulate the masses through ignorance, the skillful use of religious doctrine and the mass media
3. The righteous teachers, the remaining 5%, who constantly battle with the slave-makers to reach and free the minds of the masses 

Malcolm X (1925-1965) became the most famous proponent of the NOI in 1952 and was a popular and controversial figure before his assassination on February 21, 1965—he had converted to Sunni Islam and broken with Elijah Muhammad and will be covered in the 1960s chapter—in August, 2010, a collection of more than 1,000 documents relating to the founding of NOI were found in the attic of a house in Detroit, including details of the organization’s early structure and a letter signed by W.F. Muhammad

The Scottsboro Boys (1931)—nine young black men were falsely accused of raping two white women on a freight train—eight were convicted in rigged trials and sentenced to death—eventually the sentences were overturned—the trial became a huge political movement 

Amelia Earhart—the first woman to fly solo across the Atlantic, flying from Newfoundland to Ireland in 15 ½ hours, starting on May 20, 1932—continued to break speed records—she died in 1937 when he plane was lost/shot down over the Pacific
Lindbergh baby kidnapped—March 1, 1932—the 18-month-old son of Charles and Anne Morrow Lindbergh-- Over two months later, on May 12, 1932, his body was discovered a short distance from the Lindbergh’s' home. A medical examination determined that the cause of death was a massive skull fracture--After an investigation that lasted more than two years, Bruno Richard Hauptmann was arrested and charged with the crime. In a trial that was held from January 2 to February 13, 1935, Hauptmann was found guilty of murder in the first degree and sentenced to death. He was executed by electric chair at the New Jersey State Prison on April 3, 1936, at 8:44 in the evening. Hauptmann proclaimed his innocence to the end. Newspaper writer H. L. Mencken called the kidnapping and subsequent trial "the biggest story since the Resurrection.”--Several books have been written proclaiming Hauptmann's innocence. These books variously criticize the police for allowing the crime scenes to become contaminated, Lindbergh and his associates for interfering with the investigation, Hauptmann's trial lawyers for ineffectively representing him, and the reliability of the witnesses and the physical evidence presented at the trial. Ludovic Kennedy in particular questioned much of the evidence, such as the origin of the ladder and the testimony of many of the witnesses. A book on the case, A Talent to Deceive by British investigative writer William Norris, not only declares Hauptmann's innocence but also accuses Lindbergh of a cover-up of the killer's true identity. The book points the finger of blame at Dwight Morrow, Jr., Lindbergh's brother-in-law—in the movie J. Edgar, the case is shown as the first to use forensic evidence
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“If I were Dictator”—starting in 1931, The Nation published a series on alternate social theories—the first one was by Stuart Chase--although not a Marxist, Chase admired the planned economy of the Soviet Union, being impressed with it after a 1927 visit. Chase stated that "The Russians, in a time of peace, have answered the question of what an economic system is for" who proposed
· Abolition of protective tariffs

· An end to war debts

· Recognition of the Soviet Union and sell $ 1 billion worth of commodities

· Federal relief for the unemployed

· A complete system of old age pensions

· Deficit spending

· A planned economy, suspending any anti-trust laws

· A fantasy board of planners, including

· Robert Lynd

· Walter Lippmann

· Bernard Baruch

· John Dewey

· Paul Douglas

· Rexford Tugwell

POOR PEOPLES MOVEMENTS

BLOODY HARLAN—the organizing of coal miners by the United Mine workers and the National Miners Union—a gun battle on May 15, 1931

http://offbeathistory.com/2011/03/13/remembering-bloody-harlan-county/ 

The Kentucky Miners Investigation http://debs.indstate.edu/a505k4_1932.pdf 
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THE BONUS MARCHERS
--43,000 marchers (or 10,000 or 17,00 depending upon who’s counting), led by Walter W. Waters, a former army sergeant from Portland, OR, and encouraged by retired USMC General Smedley P. Butler,  came to Washington in the spring and summer of 1932 to demand immediate cash payment for their Service Certificates, which were not payable until 1945— World War Adjusted Compensation Act, or Bonus Act was a federal law passed on May 19, 1924, which awarded veterans additional pay in various forms, with only limited payments available in the short term. The value of each veteran's "credit" was based on each recipient's service in the United States Armed Forces between April 5, 1917 and July 1, 1919, with $1.00 awarded for each day served in the United States and $1.25 for each day served abroad. It set maximum payments at $500 for a veteran who served stateside and $625 for a veteran who served overseas—the Bonus Marchers set up a “shantytown” called Bonus City in Anacostia with their wives and families—Waters proclaimed: “We’re here for the duration and we're not going to starve”-- on June 15, the Senate voted against the bonus bill and many discouraged veterans headed for home—calling them “communists,” Hoover refused to negotiate with them so on July 28, Attorney-General Mitchell ordered all of the marchers removed from government property, and troops led by McArthur and Eisenhower (although Hiltzik claims “Eisenhower looked on in dismay” p. 6), supported by six tanks directed by George Patton, drove out  The Bonus Army, their wives and children with fixed bayonets and adamsite gas, an arsenical vomiting agent, and their shelters and belongings burned—civil servants from DC offices left work to watch the Army attack its own veterans—at first, the Bonus Marchers thought the troops were there in support but after the troops charged, the spectators jeered “Shame, shame”-- two of the veterans, and an unknown number of babies and children, died (accounts range from one to "a number" of casualties)—McArthur claimed that the without dispersing the Bonus Marchers,  “the institutions of our Government would have been severely threatened”--when FDR heard about the government’s response, he supposedly remarked to Felix Frankfurter, “Well, Felix, this elects me.” 

Bonus Marchers. http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xkmo4ygPTjc (2:39)
March of the Bonus Army—part 1 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IiMuzkpT8Xs&feature=related (9:40)

March of the Bonus Army—part 2 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vlegmV5OJtM&feature=related (9:19)

March of the Bonus Army—Part 3

 http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s13NlsmLODc&feature=related (7:53)

The World War I Bonus Army and my Dad- 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KvEbvpKjZ2k&feature=related (5:04)
As he followed the Bonus Marchers, Tugwell noted that even though people admired what Hoover had accom0plsihed since 1928, “He had surrounded himself with guards to keep away the revolutionaries. There was nothing left inside the man but jelly; maybe there had never been anything else.” (p. 193)
After the election of FDR in 1932, Eleanor Roosevelt urged the marchers to apply for jobs building the Overseas Highway to Key West—in 1936, Congress overrode a FDR veto to give the marchers their certificate money—the controversy over the treatment of the veterans led to passage in 1944 of the GI Bill of Rights, which guaranteed immediate assistance to veterans

“Fight Don’t Starve” and “Work or Wages” were radical slogans—Communist party organized March 6, 1930 as “International Unemployment Day”—anti-eviction movements—farmers fought auctions and intimidated prospective buyers—Communist Party was especially strong in black areas of the south—Sharecroppers Union in Alabama—
  FORD HUNGER MARCH (March 7, 1932) — Two years later the crisis had deepened; one statistic showed four Detroiters dying of hunger every day. Unemployment compensation did not exist. By Nov. 29, 1930, the Capuchins were feeding 800 per day. The Fisher brothers provided shelter for 2,500 homeless men in the Fisher plant at Fort and 23rd Street. White Tower restaurants served free lunches on Dec. 25. With two-thirds of his employees laid off, Henry Ford, then the richest man in the world, said the unemployed created their own misery by not working hard enough--But in this period of time, his anti-unionism and anti-communism became so extreme that he became an enthusiastic backer of Hitler. A weekly newspaper put out by Ford, the Dearborn Independent, carried 91 installments of anti-Semitic and racist diatribes, all assembled in one book, The International Jew. It was a bestseller in Germany. Third Reich offices were filled with copies. In the 1920's, the daughter-in-law of the composer Wagner came to Ford asking for funds for the Nazis. (p. 225, Henry Ford, Wayward Capitalist, by Carol Gelderman, 1981). It is unknown the extent of support, but Hitler kept a full-length oil portrait of Henry Ford in his office in Munich
Detroit’s network of Unemployed Councils had grown into one of the strongest in the country, saving untold numbers of families from a life on the streets. A citywide meeting of the councils—there were more than 80 neighborhood-based chapters in metropolitan Detroit—decided to march on the Ford Motor Co.’s River Rouge complex in Dearborn, Mich.

The march, called by the Unemployed Councils and the United Auto Workers, had 14 demands, which reflect the joint campaign because the demands were both for Ford workers and for unemployed workers: 
· Jobs for all laid off Ford workers; 

· immediate payment of 50 per cent of full wages; 

· seven-hour day without reduction in pay; 

· slowing down of deadly speedup; 

· two fifteen-minute rest periods; 

· No discrimination against Negroes in jobs; 

· relief and medical service; 

· free medical aid in Ford hospital for employed and unemployed Ford workers and families; 

· five tons of coal and coke for the winter; 

· abolition of Service Men [Ford’s hated private army of spies and thugs, led by the notorious Harry Bennett]; 

· no foreclosures on homes of Ford workers; 

· immediate payment of lump sum of fifty dollars for winter relief; 
· full wages for part time workers; 

· abolition of the graft system of hiring; and the right to organize.” (Philip Bonosky, Brother Bill McKee: “Building the Union at Ford”)

Ford had laid off 6,000 workers and the Auto Workers Union led a march to demand work— On March 6, William Z. Foster, secretary of the Communist labor federation known as the Trade Union Unity League, gave a speech in Detroit in preparation for the  march by John Schmies, Communist candidate for mayor of Detroit, and led by Albert Goetz. The protest brought out thousands of workers. Beyond the immediate 14 demands, signs connected issues affecting workers around the world. They called for freedom for the Scottsboro Nine, a group of Black youths falsely accused of raping two white women. They said “hands off China,” a reference to the sale of scrap iron to Japan, which used it in attacking the Chinese people.
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A founding member of UAW Local 600 and one of the first African Americans to hold union office, Dave Moore was born April 6, 1912, the sixth of nine children. He and his family left South Carolina and moved to Columbus, Ohio, when he was 13. They moved to Detroit in 1928. Moore hired in at Ford Motor Co. in Dearborn, Mich., in the 1930s. Like most African-American autoworkers at the time, Moore worked in the foundry, inhaling soot throughout his shift and blowing black residue out of his lungs by day’s end. Moore died in 2009 at age 97.
Dave Moore video http://www.yesmagazine.org/peace-justice/dave-moore-fighter-for-civil-rights-and-working-people 

The march began and proceeded without incident in Detroit. Dearborn, however, was Ford’s personal fiefdom; his cousin Clyde Ford was the mayor. Marchers were attacked with tear gas at the city’s border, but forced police to retreat with a barrage of stones and clumps of frozen mud. Police regrouped, only to have the scenario repeated.

At the entrance to Ford’s complex, Dearborn police were reinforced by the Dearborn Fire Department, Detroit police, and Ford’s own “Service Department.” The firefighters turned their hoses on the unarmed marchers, while police fired a hail of bullets. Coleman (also spelled Kalman) Leny, Joe DiBlasio, and Joe York—the 19-year-old district leader of the YCL—were killed. Fifty more were wounded.

When Unemployed Council leader Alfred Goetz attempted to lead an orderly retreat, machine-gun fire, this time from Ford’s own finest, began anew. The auto magnate’s right-hand man, Harry Bennett, was immediately recognized and injured by stone-throwing workers. Bennett emptied his own gun and then a police officer’s revolver into the workers. He and his goons killed 16-year-old YCL member Joe Bussel and left many more injured. Forty-eight workers, some in their hospital beds, were arrested.

More repression followed, with hundreds fired if they possessed left-wing literature or donated to the martyrs’ funerals. Membership in the CP was cause for arrest.

At the funeral, Ben Bussel spoke loudly: “In the name of my murdered brother, I call upon you to organize and fight. Long live the workers of the world.” As a band played the International—the lyrics “Arise, ye prisoners of starvation” particularly fitting—some 80,000 joined the march to the cemetery.

In June a Black worker, Curtis Williams, died of wounds suffered during the march. Segregation policies kept him from being buried with his comrades; the funeral committee hired a plane and scattered his ashes over the cemetery—or by some accounts over the Rouge-- in 1982, Dave Elsila and Steve Babson had markers created for all five as a memorial--
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The coffins that hold Joe York, George Bussell, Coleman Leny and Joe Blasio, four of the men killed during the Ford Hunger March, are given a public viewing at Detroit's Communist Party Headquarters prior to their internment at Woodmere Cemetery. Note: The African American man at front center is Christopher Alston, a future organizer for UAW - Ford.

Attorney Maurice Sugar had written two months earlier that police brutality “grows out of the institution of private property under which one class in society lives in luxury at the expense of the great mass of workers who are compelled to live in a state of poverty, wretchedness, and despair.” (Christopher H. Johnson, “Maurice Sugar, Law, Labor and the Left in Detroit, 1912-1950”) Although Sugar was able to convince the grand jury not to indict any of those arrested, no one was ever indicted for the Ford massacre.

Detroit newspapers published false and sensational accounts of the violence the following day. The Detroit Times, for example, falsely claimed that Harry Bennett and four policemen had been shot. The Detroit Press claimed that "six shots fired by a communist hiding behind a parked car were cited by police Monday night as the match which touched off a riot at the Ford Motor Company plant." The Detroit Free Press wrote that "These professional Communists alone are morally guilty of the assaults and killings which took place before the Ford plant." The Mirror ran a headline saying "Red Leaders Facing Murder Trials.
FARMERS PROTESTS—
25% of the population, farmers had been having problems since 1922—huge surpluses, based on technology and larger acreage, had driven prices down and created a militant farmers movement—in April, 1929, Hoover established The Agricultural Marketing Act to help farmers’ co-operatives but the situation got worse—starting in the early 1930s, the drought ruined the farmlands, which had been already threatened by the loss of grasslands--altered family life and structure as women looked for work and as people moved in with relatives—eventually hundreds of thousands of farmers abandoned their farms and emigrated west

Farmers’ movements protested foreclosures—huge crowds gathered and bid nickels on a dollar, forcing the banks to accept the loss-in Perry, IA, for example, a creditor collected only $45.05 on a debt of $2,500.00 (Hiltzik, p. 18)—in May, 1932, 2,000 farmers came to a fairgrounds in Des Moines to start the farmers Holiday Association, headed by Milo Reno—“Stay at home—Buy Nothing—Sell Nothing”—there was also a “red army” in Nebraska, a vigilante group that opposed foreclosures—started the practice of “penny auctions”--


As governor of New York, FDR believed in government intervention to aid citizens, unlike conservatives who thought the economic crisis was positive because it separated the strong from the weak and that any government help would only reduce the sense of self-reliance and reward “the losers” in an economic struggle—FDR created Temporary Emergency Relief Administration (TERA) in 1931 with $20 million in aid—this became a key part of his platform in the 1932 election
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Ford during the Depression—a great documentary

 http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q5J2zW7mvyM 

RECONSTRUCTION FINANCE CORPORATION


An independent agency of the US government established on January 22, 1932, modeled after the War Finance Corporation of WWI and represented both an attempt by Hoover to rebuild confidence in the economy by bailing out banks but also to give himself a campaign issue--the agency gave $2 billion in aid to state and local governments and made loans to banks, railroads, mortgage associations and other businesses--the publication of the names of the recipients of loans beginning in August 1932 (at the demand of Congress) significantly reduced the effectiveness of its loans to banks because it appeared that political considerations had motivated certain loans-- partisan politics in an election year slowed the RFC's efforts, though in 1932 monetary conditions improved because the RFC, according to Hoover, slowed the decline in the money supply-- this publication became a bitter issue between Hoover and FDR in the period after the election and before the inauguration
The 1932 CAMPAIGN


While history makes FDR out to be an irresistible candidate and major figure, it is almost forgotten that he was barely nominated at the Democratic convention, opening a wonderful area of “what if”—FDR also was very elusive during the campaign, understanding that events like more bank failures and the Bonus Marchers, were turning people against Hoover--
There was also an ominous sense that “democracy was not working”—Nicholas Murray Butler, president of Columbia and recipient of the 1931 Nobel Peace Prize, remarked:” Totalitarian regimes brought forth men of far greater intelligence, far stronger character and far more courage than the system of elections” –fascism was considered “acceptable” to many—Mussolini was popular among Italian immigrants and the anti-Semitism from the Nazi party was well received in many areas of the US—historians recalled that Woodrow Wilson took emergency powers during world War I and proclaimed that the emergency was as great in 1932

There was also a pronounced growth of support for the Communist Party, especially among men who had visited Russia—even Scott Fitzgerald said that” to bring on the revolution it may be necessary to work inside the Communist Party”—Will Rogers expressed admiration for the full employment policies of Russia—historian Lewis Mumford proclaimed:”If I vote at all, it will be for the Communists, in order to express as emphatically as possible the belief that our present crisis calls for a complete and drastic reorientation.” –John Dos Passos suggested that The New Republic print “This is Bullshit” at the bottom of every page and stated that supporting Norman Thomas and the socialist party was like drinking “near beer” (quoted Alterman, p. 82-83)
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The Democrats felt very confident about winning the election and Nevada Senator Kay Pittman proclaimed: “I am tired of being in the minority. I want to win”—while FDR was an obvious favorite, the Democrats had a 2/3 rule at their convention, designed to make sure that southern Democrats had control—some Democrats attacked Hoover that he was {!!!} “profligate,” spending too much—at first, FDR was the only serious candidate but Al Smith plotted a comeback, supported by John J. Raskob, a millionaire Republican business executive at DuPont, the chairman of the Democratic party, called by McElvaine “a Republican-in-Democratic-clothing,” and leader of “the wets”—Smith “had spent the previous four years hobnobbing with the rich and in the process lost whatever progressive tendencies he had ever possessed” (McElvaine, p. 123)—H.L. Mencken said that Smith “had ceased to be the wonder and glory of the East Side and [became] simply a minor figure on Park Avenue”—Smith was personally angry at his “protégé,” FDR for moving ahead-- Smith did not have support at the convention but could deny FDR the nomination under the 2/3 rule—
FDR was also opposed by agrarian reformers from the south and west, who supported John Nance “Cactus Jack” Garner, although some critics stated that Garner was “a Democratic Coolidge” but lost support when Garner joined many Congressional Democrats supporting a national sales tax to balance the budget—Garner had become speaker of the House in 1930 when Democrats won a one-seat majority--others advocated income and estate taxes instead –Garner also looked for support from Bernard Baruch and William Randolph Hearst since FDR had captured the progressive elements of the Democratic Party—Huey Long told FDR that he could easily win the nomination if he openly supported the Bonus Marchers but FDR refused to back any bonus bill—FDR generally opposed “entitlements,” except for Social Security so most of the New Deal involved work relief, not just payments--
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FDR’s original advisers included Louis Howe, James Farley and Colonel Edward House, but he expanded it, on the advice of his legal counsel, Samuel I. Rosenman, to include a group of academic advisers that later became “the brains trust”—Raymond Moley became an important adviser, recruiting other Columbia professors, who became “the brain trust” into the campaign—Moley may have coined the phrase “new deal,” although not as a major policy-- ironically, Moley turned against FDR by August, 1933 , when he quarreled with Secretary of State Cordell Hull and took a job as the editor of Today Magazine, which merged with Newsweek in 1937—remained as an unpaid adviser while teaching at Columbia until 1936 when he began to oppose FDR over “hostility to business” and involvement in foreign affairs—later was an adviser to Wendell Willkie  and Barry Goldwater

Moley helped write “The Forgotten Man” radio address in April, 1932, based on his enthusiasm for William Jennings Bryan--he studied with Charles Beard and was friends with Louis Howe—the speech set the tone for the campaign—“plans that build from the bottom up and not from the top down, that put their faith once more in the forgotten man at the bottom of the economic pyramid”
FDR changed the terms of the debate and raised the importance o0f government activity and intervention in the economy—large scale federal programs because the federal government had a duty to fight  poverty--

http://newdeal.feri.org/speeches/1932c.htm 
The most bitter attack on this speech was from Al Smith, who protested against “the endeavor to delude poor people of this country to their ruin by trying to make them believe that they can get employment before the people who would ordinarily employ them are also restored to conditions of normal prosperity” (quoted McElvaine, p. 125)— 

FDR was urged to back down but only got more radical--in a Jefferson Day speech on April 18 at St. Paul, MN, he proclaimed a planned shared common life”-- "In the past the most direful among the influences which have brought about the downfall of republics has ever been the growth of the class spirit, the growth of the spirit which tends to make a man subordinate the welfare of the public as a whole to the welfare of the particular class to which he belongs, the substitution of loyalty to a class for loyalty to the Nation. This inevitably brings about a tendency to treat each man not on his merits as an individual, but on his position as belonging to a certain class in the community.”

http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=88409#axzz2fkvyWU9k  
           Moley then recruited Rexford Tugwell into the campaign—Tugwell had visited Russia in 1927 and was a strong believer in a planned economy—ironically, Moley turned against FDR by August, 1933, when he quarreled with Secretary of State Cordell Hull over US involvement in foreign affairs--
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By proposing a farm program, FDR had the west and the south, supported by Huey Long, but other candidates included

· Dean Acheson

· Gov. Albert Ritchie (MD)

· Newton T. Baker

FDR lost primaries in MA and ran badly in PA so the industrial areas were still supporting Al Smith—Garner ran ahead in CA by 45,000 votes over FDR—
Here is a great “what-f”—if Garner had become the Democratic candidate, could he have defeated Hoover

http://uselectionatlas.org/FORUM/index.php?topic=86286.0 

At the convention, however, William McAdoo announced CA for FDR (see The Inheritance) and the deal was revealed that Garner would be the VP—even William Randolph Hearst supported FDR as an improvement over Smith or Newton Baker but FDR’s contradictory policies led Elmer Davis to call him ”the corkscrew candidate”—
More concern at both conventions over prohibition than unemployment

During the campaign, it was sometimes hard to distinguish between the candidates—FDR’s plans were not fixed—the whole issue of “the gold standard” became a symbol for government activity in the economy—as it was established in early US, any citizen could taken currency and redeem it for gold, limiting the amount of money in circulation—over time, the Greenback Party wanted an end (and western states wanted a silver standard since it was more plentiful)—in either case, there was a metal equivalency that limited the amount of money the federal government could print—became a burden in the Depression when deficit spending was considered to be the temporary reprieve from the economic downturn--

Documentary about the campaign http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2Yeyc1ogMiI (14:20) 

FDR campaign hard, with publicity from Charles Michelson, a former Hearst reporter, who coined the terms “Hooverville” and Hoovercarts,” cars drawn by mules because the owner could not afford gas—FDR wavered on the issue of prohibition, further separating himself from Al Smith—the dry’s from the south were also anti-Catholic but FDR realized that focusing on the economy was the  most important political issue—

The Jimmy Walker Trial—elected mayor of New York city in 1925, Walker was a product—like Al Smith—of the Tammany Hall syndicate, which many felt was important to holding New York state for the Democrats—Walker was known to be corrupt so a trial was scheduled, with FDR as the judge, under the charter of New York City—FDR vacillated during the 3-week hearing in September, 1932, about finding Walker guilty and expelling him from office but Walker resigned before the decision but then attacked FDR as “King George III for his use of “arbitrary powers”—FDR did not want to alienate potential voters in New York City but was prepared to convict Walker and knew that 
http://www.nytimes.com/books/first/m/mitgang-once.html 
http://www.smithsonianmag.com/history/the-dead-woman-who-brought-down-the-mayor-27003776/
FDR campaigned cautiously and never mentioned foreign policy during the entire campaign—in a speech to the Commonwealth Club in San Francisco on September 23, written by Adolph Berle and Raymond Moley, FDR emphasized a social contract, with rights for everyone to “make a comfortable living”—stated that the country’s old moral bonds belong to the preindustrial age but new times demanded new government policies—“Government must become a servant of those who had been exploited rather than the exploiters. When certain of its citizens are in trouble, it must come to their rescue; it must discipline public enemies; it must help those whose disadvantages could be removed only by general intervention.”—

Transcript of speech—

http://www.emersonkent.com/speeches/commonwealth_club_fdr.htm

 HYPERLINK "http://www.emersonkent.com/speeches/commonwealth_club_fdr.htm" http://www.emersonkent.com/speeches/commonwealth_club_fdr.htm
Tugwell thought this speech marked “a dividing line” for FDR—then in Pittsburgh, FDR blasted Hoover for increasing government expenditures by 50% and for waiting too long to raise taxes to balance the budget and called for cutting the cost of government y 25%--by the fall, it became clear that FDR’s policies were not significantly different from Hoover’s--

A major political shift that changed the structure of the government and the culture of the country until 1980--not even close as Hoover was very unpopular— on November 8, FDR won all but 6 states, though with 57% of the popular vote, with an Electoral College margin of 472-59—the largest electoral margin since 1864--
Other candidates included

· Norman M. Thomas /James H. Maurer—Socialist—Thomas got 2.2% of the votes even though the Literary Digest poll predicted at least 5%--many radicals were afraid they would “throw away” their votes on Thomas, enabling Hoover to win
· William Z. Foster/James W. Ford—Communist—got a little over 100,000 votes (despite all of the intellectual endorsements)
· William D. Upshaw/Frank S. Regan--Prohibition

· W.H. Harvey/Frank B. Hemenway—Liberty Party (later merged with the Jobless Party)
· Verne L. Reynolds/J.W. Aiken—socialist-Labor Party

· Jacob S. Coxey—Farmer-Labor (yes, THE Jacob Coxey)
Many blamed Hoover personally for the Depression—as governor of NY, FDR had supported state aid to the unemployed “not as a matter of charity, but as a matter of social duty” (p.590)—campaign both for expanded relief and for a balanced federal budget—

Good site http://www.u-s-history.com/pages/h894.html 


As Roark shows, however, the Democratic Party was severely divided:

1. Southern Democrats were segregationist, religious/Protestant and social conservatives

2. Northern urban Democrats, often immigrant background, largely Catholic

3. The wets (rural, native-born) and the dry’s (immigrant and urban)

4. Eastern financial leaders and “angry” farmers and workers

5. Isolationists and internationalists
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Both candidates used the radio to reach the voters during the 1932 campaign. Hoover's addresses were logical and competently delivered, but lacked enthusiasm. Roosevelt, by contrast, had a magnificent radio voice and was able to convey a sense of competence and hope to the listeners
The Democratic Party victory was enormous—gained 90 seats in the  House and 13 in the Senate—Republicans won only 6 out of 34senate elections and many of the old Republicans were defeated—Democrats now had their biggest advantage in the Senate  since the Civil war—Henry Stimson complained that “the people of sobriety and intelligence and responsibility and voted Republican” “yet we have the feeling that the immense undercurrent is against us.” and “a very unworthy element of the nation was coming into control.” (quoted McElvaine, p. 135)
It has been called “a realigning election”—FDR was the first Democrat since Franklin Pierce in 1852 to win a majority of popular votes—even the people who talked about voting Communist supported the democrats out of fear of having Hoover elected

Eleanor wept because she worried about losing her identity—“now I’ll just be the wife of the president”--

In a December, 1932, ex-president Calvin Coolidge -- who had presided over the reckless stock market boom of the Jazz Age Twenties (and famously declaimed that "the business of America is business") -- confided to a friend: "We are in a new era to which I do not belong." He punctuated those words, a few weeks later, by dying.
For the rest of his life (he died in 1964 at age 90) Hoover campaigned against the culture of the New Deal—“For the next thirty-one and one-half years, in fair political weather and foul, the former chief executive became, in his self-image, a crusader -- a tireless and very visible castigator of the dominant political trends of his day. He behaved as a committed ideological warrior more persistently and more fervently than any other former president in our history. Why? Most of all, it was because Hoover perceived in the New Deal of Franklin Roosevelt not a moderate and pragmatic response to economic distress but something more sinister: a revolutionary transformation in America’s political economy and constitutional order. Having espied the unpalatable future, Hoover could not bring himself to acquiesce . . . The Crusade Years -- a companion volume of sorts to the Magnum Opus -- covers much the same time period on the American home front. More fully a memoir than Freedom Betrayed, it recounts Hoover’s family life after March 4, 1933, his myriad philanthropic interests, and, most of all, his unrelenting “crusade against collectivism” in American life. Rescued from obscurity, this nearly forgotten manuscript is published here -- and its contents made available to scholars -- for the first time.”   http://hnn.us/article/154275 
THE INTERIM PERIOD 

            In his book The New Deal: A Modern History, Michael Hiltzik portrays the chaos between the election in November and the inauguration in March, a period shortened by 1936 as a result—Hoover resented FDR but wanted him to step forward to try to save the banking system with a joint statement but FDR refused, partly because he felt action needed to be taken and partly because he wanted to stick Hoover with all of the blame for the failures—Hiltzik is clearly influenced by the current financial crisis and shows the similarities—

One big issue is that FDR attacked Hoover for not holding to a balanced budget—the Reconstruction Finance Corporation had already pumped more than $ 400 million in backs across the country in the first six months of 1932 (Hiltzik, p. 11) to keep them from closing—818 banks had failed in first six months, then 635 more by the end of the year--also had to deal with requests from the British and French to delays the payment of $ 125 million in war debt payments—the US had loaned $ 10 billion to the Allies

In January, 1933, as more banks threatened to close, federal officials asked Henry Ford to invest in a Detroit bank but Ford refused—when told that that every bank in Michigan might close, Ford replied: “All right, then let’s have it that way. Let the crash come. Everything will go down the chute. But I feel young. I can build up again.” (Hiltzik, p. 15)—in all, 9,000 banks had failed by 1933, wiping out 9 million savings accounts—
The 72nd Congress was a lame duck—as Tugwell stated: a hopelessly futile lame-duck body. Leadership could hardly be expected from the southern Democratic leaders who, though seniority, had risen to committee chairmanships. Their purpose in life for two years had been the impeaching of Hoover’s administration. They had no mental resources adequate to the developing crisis.” (Tugwell, In Search of Roosevelt, p. 196)

Debt renegotiation—both England and France were in economic depression so in June, 1931, Hoover had declared a one-year moratorium on repayments and on November 10, both countries stated that they would miss the December 15 payment and wanted to renegotiate, blaming Germany which had refused to continue reparations--many Europeans felt that the Us had not really suffered during the war and should be more financially forgiving—FDR publicly stated his opposition to any renegotiation and then stated that it was still the problem for Hoover and the lame duck Congress—by January, FDR meet with the French ambassador to propose paying the principal but not the interest, just as the Americans had repaid the French after the American Revolution--
Attempted assassination—A great exercise in what-could-have-been, and the debate over how much impact an individual has over the course of historical events—

FDR took a vacation cruise of the Nourmahal, owned by William Vincent Astor--On February 15, 1933, Chicago Mayor Anton Cermak was in Miami, Florida, and had the opportunity to shake hands with Roosevelt at an event in Bayfront Park. A young immigrant, an unemployed bricklayer,  named Giuseppe Zangara stood up on a bench and fired several shots, one of which struck Cermak in the lung, wounding five others—supposedly Zangara missed FDR because the chair on which he stood wobbled as he fired but a carpenter named Thomas Armour grabbed Zangara’s arm after the first shot. Four other people were also injured. FDR visited Cermak before his death, and Cermak told him, "I'm glad it was me instead of you." –as an example of swift justice, Zangara pled guilty five days later and was sentenced to 80 years in Raiford Prison, located in central Florida. At his sentencing Zangara said of the President-elect, "I decide to kill him and make him suffer. I want to make it 50-50. Since my stomach hurt I want to make even with capitalists by kill the President. My stomach hurt long time."
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Anton Cermak died from his wounds two weeks later, and Zangara was immediately tried for his murder, sentenced to the electric chair and executed on March 20 at Raiford. Unrepentant, Zangara was cursing and railing against capitalists as he was put to death.

Even back then the “tin foil hat brigade”—people whose knowledge contradicts a widely-held belief--was in force, and rumors abounded that Cermak was the intended target all along as part of a hit ordered by Al Capone, because of Cermak's stance on Chicago's organized crime. 

Video of assassination 
http://chicagoist.com/2009/03/06/friday_flashback_the_assassination.php (2:28)

In the early part of 1933, Hoover frantically tried to get FDR to agree on programs because Hoover claimed that the financial system in the US was collapsing (too big to fail?)—Hoover wanted FDR to publicly agree that 

· there would be no inflation and 

· that the gold standard would not be abandoned and that

· the names of recipients of RFC loans would not be made public and

· the budget would be balanced, even if it required new taxes

Hoover sent letter to FDR on February 18 but FDR claimed the letter was mislaid—was he being devious or dishonest or did FDR just want to take office before committing to policies?—did FDR want things to get as bad as they could so that when he took office, he would gain political credit for all improvements?

In any case, nothing was done and Hoover was bitter for the rest of his life—in a memoir he claimed to have taken more federal action than any previous president and, by publishing the names of RFC recipients in 1932m thousands of banks were jeopardized—in 1935, Hoover claimed that “It was the most political and more unnecessary bank panic in our history. It could have been prevented. It could have been cured by simple cooperation.” . . .Closing the banks was a sign that the country was in a ditch. It was the political equivalent of the burning of the Reichstag to create an ‘emergency.’” (quoted Alterman, p. 181-182)
GERMAN ELECTION OF 1932—in an almost parallel political development, Hitler ran for president against the 85-year old incumbent, Paul von Hindenburg, a campaign run by Joseph Goebbels and in the presidential election held on March 13, 1932, Hitler got over eleven million votes (11,339,446) or 30% of the total. Hindenburg got 18,651,497 votes or 49%, forcing a runoff election--April 10, 1932, Hitler got 13,418,547 or 36%, an increase of two million, and Hindenburg 19,359,983 or 53%, an increase of under a million but it was clear that the Nazis were coming into power
[image: image20.jpg]HOOVER
“PROSPERITY




On June 1, 1932, Hindenberg appointed Franz von Papen as chancellor of Germany, whom Shirer described as an “unexpected and ludicrous figure.” Papen immediately dissolved the Reichstag (the national congress) and called for new elections, the third legislative election in five months. 
Hitler and his fellow members of the National Socialist (Nazi) Party, who were determined to bring down the republic and establish dictatorial rule in Germany, did everything they could to create chaos in the streets, including initiating political violence and murder. The situation got so bad that martial law was proclaimed in Berlin. 
            Even though Hitler had badly lost the presidential election, he was drawing ever-larger crowds during the congressional election. As Shirer points out, 

In one day, July 27, he spoke to 60,000 persons in Brandenburg, to nearly as many in Potsdam, and that evening to 120,000 massed in the giant Grunewald Stadium in Berlin while outside an additional 100,000 heard his voice by loudspeaker. 

The July 31, 1932, election produced a major victory for Hitler’s National Socialist Party. The party won 230 seats in the Reichstag, making it Germany’s largest political party, but it still fell short of a majority in the 608-member body. 
          Political deadlocks in the Reichstag soon brought a new election, this one in November 6, 1932. In that election, the Nazis lost two million votes and 34 seats. Thus, even though the National Socialist Party was still the largest political party, it had clearly lost ground among the voters. 

            On January 30, 1933, (FDR’s fifty-first birthday) President Hindenburg appointed Adolf Hitler chancellor of Germany. Although the National Socialists never captured more than 37 percent of the national vote, and even though they still held a minority of cabinet posts and fewer than 50 percent of the seats in the Reichstag, Hitler and the Nazis set out to consolidate their power. With Hitler as chancellor, that proved to be a fairly easy task.
        On February 27, 1933, Hitler was enjoying supper at the Goebbels home when the telephone rang with an emergency message: “The Reichstag is on fire!” Hitler and Goebbels rushed to the fire, where they encountered Hermann Goering, who would later become Hitler’s air minister. Goering was shouting at the top of his lungs, 

This is the beginning of the Communist revolution! We must not wait a minute. We will show no mercy. Every Communist official must be shot, where he is found. Every Communist deputy must this very day be strung up. 

       The day after the fire, Hitler persuaded President Hindenburg to issue a decree entitled, “For the Protection of the People and the State.” Justified as a “defensive measure against Communist acts of violence endangering the state,” the decree suspended the constitutional guarantees pertaining to civil liberties: 

Restrictions on personal liberty, on the right of free expression of opinion, including freedom of the press; on the rights of assembly and association; and violations of the privacy of postal, telegraphic and telephonic communications; and warrants for house searches, orders for confiscations as well as restrictions on property, are also permissible beyond the legal limits otherwise prescribed. 

Two weeks after the Reichstag fire, Hitler requested the Reichstag to temporarily delegate its powers to him so that he could adequately deal with the crisis.
Great site on the Nazi Party 

http://www.historyplace.com/worldwar2/riseofhitler/index.htm 
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